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To Those who Fight Back


‘We touched his hand – stone cold – and he

was dead, and they, all dead behind.’

Anthology of War Poetry
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This book is a fictionalised account of the story told to me by ‘Alex Goodman’. How much of his story is true, I cannot say. I have set the fiction against a factual background. Any similarity between fictional characters and real people is entirely coincidental.


1

July 1984

They had always lived in the gentle land about the Wye and Severn. Welsh border country where the talk was of hops and the weather. Crime, unemployment and the nuclear threat touched only the outer enamel of their awareness, causing little conscious concern.

His birth to Welsh parents in the suburbs of Coventry, a decade before hers in Cardiff, was premature, owing to the Blitz.

Neither arrived to silver-spoon status and both were orphaned in their late teens, though moderate success at their respective grammar schools, Leominster and Worcester, enabled their entry into the safe worlds of rural accountant and shop assistant, where, in 1974, their paths entwined. They married the same year and, nine respectable months later, little Lucy appeared. She remained their only child and the essence of their existence.

I find it difficult to picture the family in any light where niceness and normality do not cling label-like to their upbringing, their thoughts and their day-to-day existence. The sort of people whom God designed in His own image and set down in the epicentre of His most green and pleasant land, a place where nasty things do not occur. Yet, close by in the Cotswolds, as Lucy grew up, a dozen other ‘nice and normal’ girls were raped, tortured and buried by the respectable West family of Gloucester. Not one neighbour noticed their disappearance, not one relative murmured in concern. How could this happen?

On 22 July 1984 Lucy held her parents’ hands as they waved a last goodbye to their cramped but cosy flat in Leominster, the only home she had known. Then they squeezed into the front of their overladen Volkswagen Beetle and headed north, dry-mouthed with apprehension, excitement and hope. That was the day, I think, when God forgot that they were His and the Devil closed in.

On Wednesday, 18 July 1984 an FBI agent, Jed Mason, and two colleagues entered a low, Spanish-style bungalow overlooking the border crossing-point of San Ysidro, in San Diego’s southernmost suburb. The house was rented by a Drug Enforcement Administration CENTAC (Central Tactical Unit) team, to which the three men were seconded. Jed, like most middle-aged FBI men throughout the USA, was overworked. Apart from his CENTAC work with the DEA, he was currently handling twenty-eight ongoing cases, the majority California-based, but several stretching across the world of international crime and meshed with allied CIA operations.

He passed the grey Panton R6 binoculars to the taller of his two associates, flipping a centrally mounted lever to the ‘smoked’ position. ‘Try these.’ His accent was Boston, his tone tinged with pride. ‘Langley’s concept but our Bureau wizards handled the design. The first binocs in the world to allow you to see through tinted glass – especially useful since ninety per cent of our top criminals go for black-window limos even before they get their Rolex Presidents.’

‘How do they work?’ Ridgway asked.

Jed shook his head. ‘Ask me another, JR. Something to do with two negatives making a plus to look through a dark glass.’ He liked to confuse John ‘JR’ Ridgway. It went back to the military, where they first met, both rookies from New England but otherwise chalk and cheese. JR had eased into private detection, specialising in arson investigation and insurance fraud, while Jed was head-hunted by the Bureau, at a time when J. Edgar Hoover had lain at rest a mere two years alongside America’s other top movers and shakers allotted a Capitol plot close by Abe Lincoln and JFK.

JR and Jed were wont to meet from time to time, as old vet friends do, and, comparing case notes, discovered a mutual interest in Korbi Richter, a suave Los Angeles-based German. Jed had come across the man three years earlier during an international CENTAC narcotics operation, while JR, investigating a disturbing rash of high-tech arson attacks, had traced a call to Richter at an anonymous office suite in a Wilshire Boulevard high-rise.

In 1982 Jed had instigated Operation Caesar, a label for their work on Richter, and in between their many other cases the two men had slowly closed in on the German. There was as yet no actionable evidence and sometimes months would pass with Caesar lying fallow. NCIC, the FBI central computer containing twenty million records, had nothing on Korbi Richter; nor had the criminal files of the DEA and other organisations.

As part of the FBI’s declared determination to prevent drug gangs preying on the expected rush of LA-bound 1984 Olympics tourists, Jed had reactivated Operation Caesar by installing basic and illegal snooping gear in Richter’s LA office. For weeks Richter failed to show up but, in the last week of June, the name Guzman cropped up in a taped conversation from his office.

‘Guzman,’ Jed had called to tell JR at once, ‘is a top cocaine dealer for Pablo Escobar in Medellín and it seems Korbi Richter’s people are expecting him to cross the border out of Baja California on Wednesday. Richter just may have designs on taking over some Escobar business.’

They had agreed to investigate Richter’s interest in Guzman.

Jed and his men had followed a black Buick Regal, the car with tinted windows, from Richter’s LA office and along the Cabrillo Freeway to downtown San Diego. The largely Hispanic quarter of San Ysidro, named after the patron saint of farmers, is connected to the city only by a narrow corridor down the coastline of San Diego Bay.

The Buick had parked at a Yum Yum doughnut shop on San Ysidro Boulevard. A quick call to Pennsylvania Avenue, FBI HQ, told Jed that Alex Solomon, manager of the Yum Yum, was clean. When the Buick’s two occupants, a black and an Anglo type, went inside, a passing Hell’s Angel leant across from his Harley-Davidson and snapped a black magnetic strip on to the Buick’s roof.

‘Easy to spot only if you’re looking for it,’ Jed muttered to JR. ‘Now we can tune into their car talk and find out exactly why Richter’s interested in Guzman.’

Pedro, Jed’s Mexican FBI aide, snapped photos of their quarry as they emerged from the Yum Yum. They returned to the Buick and parked in a recently vacated space a few hundred yards from the US side of the crossing-point. The Buick watched the border and Jed watched the Buick. JR smoked Camels, Pedro chewed gum and Jed made calls.

James Huberty was only forty-one but his hairline had long since disappeared over the horizon. His features were unrelentingly ugly, and chunky spectacles did little to hide a stare that made people uneasy. Folk from his home town in Ohio called him a man with a chip on his shoulder, an anti-social person who collected guns, kept guard dogs, hoarded food against Armageddon and made his daughters learn karate.

Both daughters and his wife Etna were with him at noon for a short visit to San Diego Zoo following his being fined in traffic court that morning for a double-yellow-line offence. A year earlier the family had tried living in Tijuana but Huberty spoke poor Spanish and found the locals stand-offish, so they had moved to an apartment in San Ysidro. Cassandra was ten and Zelia fourteen. They were uneasy about their father. He had started to hear voices and then began to converse with invisible people. A week before he had lost his job as a security guard.

On reaching their apartment after the zoo visit he told Etna: ‘I’m going out to hunt humans.’ Then he donned a red T-shirt and combat fatigues.

The previous day Etna had tried to book Huberty an appointment at a mental health clinic. She did not like the sound of his parting remark, but he had never hurt anybody and took no drugs or alcohol.

‘Jim is a very sad man,’ she told friends. ‘He had a broken childhood. His only close friend is his dog.’

Huberty left his home on Averil Avenue soon after 3.30 p.m. and headed for the nearby Yum Yum take-away.

A white Mercedes stretch limo drove from Chapultepec in prime-zone Tijuana, down the main street, Revolución, and, stopping briefly at El Indio, a vehicle body shop adept at cocaine concealment, picked up a creative accountant named Rubi. He was a local, bred in the baked-mud backstreets, desensitised in the stinking brothels and educated in the rules of murder, treachery, smuggling and corruption that pervade most of urban Mexico. With figures he was brilliant. A mixture of well-placed flattery and the right introductions had seen him rise from the service of petty local felons to the senior echelons of the Mexicali cocaine trade. His recent release from the cesspit of Tijuana’s La Mesa jail had been engineered by Victor Guzman, a man with an uncanny resemblance to Robert Mitchum; a man friendly with Pablo Escobar, Jorge Ochoa and other Colombian crime kings.

Rubi was shortly due to join his maestro, Victor Guzman, at San Diego Airport and accompany him to Europe. First he had to pay Guzman’s corrupt Customs contact, who should be waiting at the first McDonald’s on the US side of the border.

The Buick tucked in several vehicles behind Rubi’s Mercedes and the Hell’s Angel followed them both, calling for Jed as he gunned his Harley-Davidson away from the fumes and bustle of the checkpoint.

Huberty knew that the neighbourhood McDonald’s, where he had taken his daughters earlier that day, would be busy and that most of the clients would be Latinos from Tijuana, where he and his family had so recently been given the cold shoulder. He was unemployed, unlike most of the Mexicanos munching at Big Macs.

He carried a twelve-bore pump-action shotgun, a Browning 9mm semi-automatic pistol, an Uzi sub-machine-gun imported from Israel and four hundred rounds of ammunition. True to his word, he was going hunting.

The Mercedes slowed down by the Post Office and turned into 522 West San Ysidro Boulevard, McDonald’s parking lot close by the children’s Jungle Gym and the Ronald McDonald play-slide. Teenagers in blue jeans and beach shirts loafed about as the limo came to a halt. The Buick settled back into its earlier spot in the neighbouring Yum Yum car park and Jed Mason, across the road in the van, tuned into the Buick’s occupants while adjusting the Panton’s focus. The eavesdropped conversation came across crystal-clear.

The black man in the Buick, a snappy dresser, surprised Jed, for his accent was plainly English; London maybe, though Jed was no expert on Limey patois. ‘Hey Pedro,’ he shouted over his shoulder. ‘Korbi Richter’s boys seem to think Guzman’s men are about to pay off a Customs contact at an RV in McDonald’s . . . The German guy is calling his black pal Tricks. Try that name on the NCIC computer.’ Pedro disappeared into the hardware banks in the back of the van. Six minutes later he poked his head through the blackout cloth and shook it. ‘Nothing on a black man, six feet-plus and 180lb. Nickname Tricks. English accent. Associate of Korbi Richter . . . No blacks or whites with real or street-name Tricks.’

Jed shrugged. A small man, the ex-con accountant Rubi, climbed out of the Mercedes. JR aimed and focused a directional sound probe, as simple to zero on a moving target as any rifle sight. Rubi waited by the main entrance to the fast-food joint. He looked impatient, furtive or both. JR, his ear pressed to the probe, heard him click his teeth and mouth ‘Dios mío’ as a fat mamma brushed past him.

A fit-looking sixty-year-old man approached the entrance. Rubi raised his hand. ‘Hi,’ he said. ‘You Mr Blueday?’ ‘Nope,’ the man responded, ‘the name’s Versluis, Laurence to friends. I come here a lot. This Mr Blueday of yours, he ain’t no reg’lar here. I knows all the reg’lars. I never heard of a Latino Blueday and this Micky D’s is ninety per cent Latino.’

Rubi waited another five minutes, glancing frequently at his watch. He knew Guzman did not like to be kept waiting at any time and today he had a flight to catch. Rubi seemed to make up his mind. He disappeared into the restaurant but JR could still hear him clearly enough on the probe. The voice was again that of Mr Versluis.

‘Hi, pal. Still looking for Blueday? Here, take a seat. Coffee or some other poison?’ JR winced as a chair scraped, unseen but sharp to his eardrum. ‘Look, Mr Versluis’ – Rubi’s voice – ‘could you do me a favour? I’ll pay you . . . Just a matter of handing an envelope to the right guy. He should be here but maybe he’s held up in traffic.’

‘Sure. I’m in no hurry.’ Versluis obviously liked to talk. ‘I been in trucks on the highway thirty-nine years and I learnt one thing. Ain’t no good to be had by rushing. Do a man a favour one day and someday he’ll help you back. That’s life, pal, a matter of balance. Balance . . . Say, I may know your Mr Blueday. We get a lot of Sycuan Indians in here with names like that. They run a bingo hall just east of El Cajón. Yeah, might well be a Blueday among ’em.’

‘Great.’ Rubi forced twenty dollars on the garrulous Versluis. ‘If Blueday shows up real soon and it’s likely he will, give him this package. He’ll know who it’s from. If he’s not here when you leave, just mail it next door at the Post Office. He was meant to collect it at 4 p.m. sharp but, too bad, I got a plane to catch.’

‘OK, friend. Right happy to help. I’ll see he gets it.’

Rubi was a good judge of his fellow-man. Versluis was honesty writ loud and clear. Rubi returned into JR’s view and climbed back into the Mercedes, which moved off.

‘All you got to do now, JR,’ Jed grinned, ‘is go have a Big Mac, call yourself Blueday and collect the package. Could help us hang a bribery charge on somebody big.’

‘What’s with the guys in the Buick?’ JR eyed the headphones. ‘Tell me, then I’ll go make like Blueday.’

Jed nodded. He listened as Pedro twirled knobs on a recorder. In a while he turned to JR. ‘Seems like the black Limey Tricks and his German friend are not here to say howdy to Guzman. The little guy Rubi, fresh from a Mexican slammer, is about to join Guzman en route to Europe to start major crack rings based from London . . . Richter has his own London thing going under this Tricks and the last thing he wants is Guzman and the Medellín big boys muscling in over there. The idea is for Tricks to get an eyeful of Guzman and his gofer Rubi, so his soldiers can be sure to knock them off as soon as they touch down in dear old London town.’

‘So what’s in the package in McDonald’s?’

‘That’s what you’re about to find out. Probably a fat wad and, with luck, a written note . . . but wait . . .’ Jed’s hands went up and pressed the earphones. He tensed forward, glancing up the boulevard. ‘Tricks is shouting something at the German . . . He sounds scared. Says there’s a contract killer coming for them . . . Hey, hey. He’s right.’ Jed’s right hand dropped towards his ankle holster. ‘You’d better forget Mr Blueday, JR. Take a look at this guy. He’s a walking arsenal.’

Huberty opened fire just as Ridgway picked him up with the binoculars. As the blast of the first shot of his ‘human hunt’ echoed down San Ysidro Boulevard, Jed reached for his phone to call the cops.

Huberty acted with surgical precision. He did not waste bullets on the occupants of the parked Buick because he could not see them through the tinted windows. There was no satisfaction in shooting up inanimate objects. The Uzi jammed, so he discarded it.

As he had expected, McDonald’s at 4 p.m. was full of life, mostly Latinos. Three eleven-year-old boys from the nearby elementary school approached, pushing their bicycles. Huberty shot two dead. The third lay doggo with bullets in his back, leg, arm and chest. Earlier that day he and his chums had gone deep-sea fishing. Now they were dead, and as he felt his lifeblood trickle down his crutch he feared that he would soon be joining them.

Huberty was not insane in a medical sense. Or, if he was, he had only been acting that way for three minutes in forty-one years. He was a very standard sort of person with an average marriage and two little daughters that he loved and who were about the same age as the boys on the bikes.

He saw a police car with its roof light flashing and aimed a burst as it blurred by. The police driver later described Huberty. ‘No emotion, no expression. Dark sunglasses. A devil walking through his own hell. I’ll never forget his face, the look of emptiness and evil.’

An elderly couple had stopped, rabbits mesmerised by the sudden violence. Huberty shot the woman through the head and her husband sank to the ground holding her in disbelief and horror, splashed by her blood. He tried with his trembling fingers to swab the blood from her eyes, to stroke her hair away from her goldfish mouth.

Then Huberty walked into McDonald’s. He killed a young married couple close to the front counter. As they died they clutched at each other and fell over the body of their wounded daughter.

Before Huberty’s arrival thirty or forty people were in the eatery enjoying their food and each other’s company – a scene repeated all over America, all over the world. McDonald’s. Civilisation. Huberty was a product of that civilisation. He raised his voice a touch and felt his omnipotence in the terrified cowering of his victims. He told them to lie down flat. They all obeyed. Then he began to kill them, alternating his weapons. He used the pistol for close shooting, held against ears and temples.

He switched on somebody’s radio and was impressed that the airwaves were already reporting his first murders on the pavement outside. He looked back out of a front window and saw that the old man was still alive, rocking back and forth and crooning to his dead wife. He put a bullet through his neck.

The three little boys lying slumped about their bicycles looked dead. He saw a policeman and fired a burst, shattering windows and roof lights. Somebody on the floor behind him screamed, so he killed her.

Then he began to walk up the first aisle between tables. Imelda Pérez, sixteen, heard his footsteps and her hand pulled tight over the back of Claudia, her nine-year-old sister. Huberty saw the movement. A single bullet passed through Imelda’s hand, killing Claudia. Imelda would have to wait a while.

Huberty murdered Colemanero Silva, a stock clerk from Tijuana, with his pistol, then switched to the twelve-gauge with which he blasted away four-year-old Mirey Rivera’s buttocks. Next he killed Señor Rivera, a maintenance man for General Atomic, and sliced shot into a four-month-old girl who was crying – an irritating sound.

At the end of the aisle, those still awaiting death heard him carefully reload his weapons. Maricela Flores, twenty-three, and her family were close to a rear exit. She quietly passed her wounded baby around a door. ‘Please take care of her,’ she whispered. Huberty finished reloading and killed Maricela. He saw another mother trying to plug her little daughter’s wounds with napkins. A single shot put a stop to her ministrations.

A telephone rang with a repetitive jangle. Huberty blasted it from its housing.

By 4.45 p.m. police SWAT (Special Weapons and Tactics) snipers had surrounded the building but could not catch a clear glimpse of Huberty through the cracked windows. They were fearful that a sudden attack would cause more deaths. As they waited, wounded people bled to death.

When Huberty saw an eye blink or a body twitch he pressed his pistol against the head and fired single shots. For long minutes he allowed a hidden baby to cry then he sought it out and the noise ceased.

He moved to the rear lobby at some point where he met John Arnold, sixteen, and aimed his shotgun point-blank. Click . . . a misfire. Arnold was lucky – the second shot merely removed his forearm.

Three girls lay under a booth playing possum. Two were vegetarians who rarely used hamburger joints. Huberty approached and saw movement. Gloria and Arisdelsi somehow survived but they felt the bullets thud into the body of their friend, Vargas, and her death tremors passed through their bodies as they waited their turn.

Half a dozen young friends worked at the rear of the restaurant. There was always a noisy bustle. A bomb could go off and no one would notice. Huberty was suddenly among them. Elsa Borboa threw a coffee-pot. She missed and he killed her. Seventeen-year-old Wendy Flanagan was enjoying her first job after leaving school. Her friend brought in a tray of iced soda and managed to keep hold of the tray as she died. Four other girls fell among the shiny metal pans but two escaped with a wounded senior manager and hid with him in a closet. The manager stuffed a towel in his mouth to muffle his groans.

In seventy minutes James Huberty killed twenty-one people, mostly youngsters, and seriously wounded fifteen others. It was the worst single-episode slaying in the history of the United States.

SWAT officer Charles Foster, prone on the Post Office roof, sent a .308 bullet through Huberty’s chest when he glimpsed him searching around for further prey.

They froze Huberty’s brain in the county morgue but found no evidence of tumours, drugs or infirmity. A normal member of the community driven by external pressures to inexcusable action of which neither he nor his family would have previously deemed him capable.

This book is the story of another such man and I have written it because in his case, unlike Huberty’s, I can sympathise, indeed identify with, his reactions to the blows that Fate dealt him.

Jed’s team watched Guzman and Rubi fly from San Diego bound for London Heathrow and, three days later, the black Englishman Tricks followed suit. Jed applied for FBI authority to wire up Richter’s telephones in Wilshire Boulevard back in LA on the grounds of his now proven link with drug dealer Victor Guzman. Within a week the Justice Department granted permission for full covert surveillance of Korbi Richter. JR and Jed felt that, after two years in the doldrums, their Operation Caesar might be showing the first stirrings of success. But they were too street-cynical to count on gaining sufficient evidence for a conspiracy conviction. Richter and his shady colleagues were still beyond their reach.

JR called in a favour from an ATF border police friend in San Diego, who approached an officer working with Captain Ybbandrio in charge of the Huberty crime-scene search. There was no sign of anyone named Blueday. They had traced the body of a truck driver named Laurence Versluis but there was nothing suspicious to be found among his effects, and certainly no cash package. JR naturally avoided any suggestion that such a package might have disappeared during the police search. It was just another false lead. The Richter job, Jed ruminated, seemed to attract more stray bullets than just about any case he could remember. Huberty was not the first foreign body to gatecrash Operation Caesar. Nor, sadly for Jed, would he be the last.
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July 1984

Four days after the San Diego massacre, which made headlines all over the world, Lucy moved with her parents to Dudley, a north-western suburb of Birmingham. All her life, school and holidays alike, had been spent in Herefordshire. Her parents were both orphans and only children, possibly one of the reasons they had been attracted to each other, so there were no aunts or grannies to visit. Lucy was a shy little girl, but she had loved her old school in Leominster and dreaded having to be a new girl in Birmingham once her parents found her a school close enough to their new home.

The move had been far too precipitate, as it now turned out. Lucy had made no protest, for she could see her father was excited at the job offer: he had called it ‘manna from heaven’. Back home at the hotel and the two shops, he had run everything smoothly and the annual audit was always a success. His employers, the Browns, according to Lucy’s mother, should have been named Scrooge, for they never raised Dad’s salary and never gave him a bonus. They took his loyalty, honesty and his wonderful way with figures for granted.

One of the brewery companies, with which the Browns’ hotel had dealt for years, had come up with the new job and their sales rep had put Dad’s name forward. No other credentials were needed. They knew his record and offered a wage far better than he could ever hope to obtain in Leominster. His mistake had been to try for the Army. At grammar school he had shunned the Cadet Corps partly in rebellion against unsubtle pressures from his father. When a car crash killed both his parents while he was at university, he joined up from guilt, to placate his late father’s memory. Mons Officer Cadet School had soon confirmed his earlier notions that the Army was for brainless idiots who needed the khaki umbrella to nurse them through life for twenty-two years, then furnish them with a brief resettlement course and an index-linked pension. He knew this was not for him and left Mons before receiving a commission.

He fancied the world of catering administration, for he had often earned pocket money during his school holidays working as a part-time clerk at the Browns’ hotel. So, after his hasty retreat from the Army, he went back to Herefordshire and the Browns. Discovering his talents with their confused and often overlapping accounting systems, the Browns realised a considerable saving in professional fees. For his part, he began to study accountancy through the Open University, which led him to tax law and other specialist topics. This became his hobby as well as his living. Somewhat of an introvert and tucked away in the hotel office, he met few girls and bedded only one (owing to a rare state of inebriation one New Year’s Eve).

When he met Mary, a recently arrived assistant at one of the Browns’ shops, he was thirty-nine. She was nine years younger and socially inhibited to a painful degree. Each knew by the end of their second lunch date that they were helplessly and wonderfully in love. Mary, by then probably the oldest postwar virgin in Herefordshire, discovered a latent sexuality bordering on nymphomania. He responded with fervour and Lucy was conceived in the storeroom of Mary’s shop during an audit.

They stayed on with the Browns after their wedding and four-day honeymoon in far-away Clacton-on-Sea. They scrimped and saved over the years but it was a miserable process with a poor outlook for their dotage. This mattered little since they were besotted with each other.

When the offer of the Birmingham brewery job was made, they celebrated with dinner for three at the local Indian restaurant. Life was suddenly and unexpectedly full of limitless potential. The next day the couple finished work early and made love fully clothed on the living-room carpet. They were almost caught by Lucy coming back from school. She held her hand to her lips in delight when she saw the radiant smiles on her parents’ faces.

The house in Dudley was semi-detached and in Lucy’s eyes ‘mega-brill’. This was just as well, since they had sold their Leominster flat with its forty per cent mortgage and taken a seventy per cent loan on their Dudley acquisition. Never mind. There was an oil-fired Aga for Mary, a playroom for Lucy, a separate study for Dad’s computer and even a back garden for Lucy’s rabbit Munch, whose hutch, back in Leominster, had been squeezed into their cramped kitchen.

The brewery had generously allowed a fortnight on full pay to ‘settle in’, but in their first week in the new house their dream was shattered by a letter from the company. Owing to unforeseen circumstances, staff cut-backs were to be implemented by order of the Australian-based parent company and, to ensure adequate compensation for the bitter blow that this would undoubtedly be, three months’ severance pay would be awarded if the enclosed agreement form was signed by the given date.

Their reaction was to cheer each other up with ‘positive thinking’. All was not lost. There must be many other jobs to be found in the country’s second city. They would keep their nerve. With the three months’ grace he would easily find alternative employment.

They settled down to a new routine: he to the telephone and the newspaper section of Birmingham Central Lending Library, she to home-making and looking after Lucy. On their first weekend in Dudley they had driven out to the nearest countryside. They took Lucy’s camera, for Mary had heard there were roe deer which came to Kinver Edge from Arley Forest and little muntjacs if you kept quiet and were lucky.

But luck is a strange potion, concocted, God knows where, to a recipe of devilish complexity. The other ingredients involved in the little family’s luck quotient were that very morning coming together many thousands of miles away on the hot river plains of the eastern Punjab.

In 1980 President Jimmy Carter was embarrassed by CIA profiteering, plots to kill foreign leaders and spying on US citizens at home. CIA involvement in Watergate did not help. So he cut down their numbers, their scope and their budget. The KGB were delighted.

A year later Ronald Reagan became President and Carter’s various appeasement policies were turned on their head in favour of aggressive action against Brezhnev’s ‘evil empire’ of Soviet-inspired communism. Sadly for Reagan, various Hollywood quick-kill solutions he favoured to crush the Reds were blocked by Congress. Subtlety was required. Annoying but unavoidable.

Most US Presidents have a Secretary of State to control foreign policy and a Director of the CIA to operate covert actions within that policy. Reagan simplified the process by appointing a sixty-seven-year-old businessman (the manager of Reagan’s recent presidential campaign) as CIA boss, with an assurance of minimal interference from the government. William Casey took Reagan at his word and then some.

Reagan had no confidence in the body of the CIA but he trusted Casey at their helm. This trust was repaid with unswerving loyalty. Casey, who remained the powerful Director of the CIA from 1981 until his death in 1987, served in two quite separate roles. Openly he was leader of the most powerful secret service in the world. In secret he manoeuvred a group of his trusted chums, many of them millionaires with worldwide connections of their own, in covert operations unknown to the CIA professionals but approved of by Reagan (when Casey saw fit to pass the President details of their activities).

A number of these ‘Casey friends’ were well known to and frowned upon by the CIA officials at Langley, Virginia. They were called the Hardy Boys and they brazenly used the Director’s private office lift at CIA headquarters. They included Swiss tycoon Bruce Rappaport, Brooklyn tough guy Max Hugel (who was briefly elevated to official CIA status) and ex-Eisenhower aide Bob Anderson.

Casey loved all things covert and remembered as the best years of his life his successful World War Two career in the OSS, the precursor of the CIA. Unbeknown to his wife, the CIA, or even his Hardy Boy colleagues, he nursed a secret within a secret – a group of ‘patriots’, including OSS and Vietnam veterans, business entrepreneurs and top New York lawyers, whose activities were kept a jealously guarded internal secret. They avoided nomenclature, committees and telephone conversations. Their success stood the test of time in that their existence remained unconfirmed despite numerous Congressional and Senate inquiries into potential international crises spawned directly by their machinations.

Only one of Casey’s secret group, which, in the absence of an existing title, I will call ‘The Friends’, was also a member of the Hardy Boys and visited Casey openly at Langley. John Shaheen, successful ex-OSS banker, as essentially Irish Catholic in his moral ethics as Casey, was chief puppeteer of The Friends. In the early summer of 1984 he and Casey gave themselves elaborate alibis and joined fellow-Friend Albert Redden on board his private Boeing jet to fly to Chaklala Air Base near Islamabad.

Casey had been there two months previously in his official CIA capacity, arriving in a giant black US warplane, to energise his opposite number, General Yousef of Pakistan’s ISI. Their joint aim was the defeat of Soviet forces in Afghanistan.

Casey, Shaheen and Redden were flown by military helicopter from Islamabad to a walled mansion on the plain of the river Ravi in the eastern Punjab. This house was owned by the Bank of Credit and Commerce International (BCCI) and run by the Bank’s Protocol Department for the specific purpose of impressing foreign dignitaries and prospective BCCI clients.

Casey and his boss, Ronald Reagan, had long appreciated that BCCI was no normal bank. Privately they called it ‘the bank of crooks and criminals incorporated’. Seven long years before the Bank of England was to announce BCCI bankrupt and freeze its worldwide assets, the CIA Director knew BCCI as the evil brainchild of a financial magus from Pakistan. BCCI banked for drug barons, terrorists, dictators and spy services. With branches in eighty countries and masterminded from the City of London, the whole crooked edifice was run by Pakistanis under the hypnotic sway of BCCI’s founder, Agha Hassan Abedi.

Abedi, a man of impressive charm and the features of a falcon, met Casey, Redden and Shaheen for a late breakfast once they had recovered from their 10,000-mile flight. He introduced a sleekly dressed Pakistani to Redden. ‘This is Asaf Ali, a world authority on the sale of arms,’ he laughed. ‘I should say the authority.’ Casey and Shaheen shook the man’s hand. They had met previously. Casey, well over six feet tall despite his old man’s stoop, towered above the others.

‘This is Javed Abbas,’ Abedi next introduced a small, dark-skinned Punjabi, ‘from our Protocol Department. In the absence of Sani Ahmed, Javed from Lahore is arranging a good time for us all once the business is over.’ He paused as coffee was poured by uniformed servants. ‘The President will arrive shortly,’ he continued. ‘Quite how shortly I cannot say. He will not want to keep you waiting, Mr Casey, but he too is a very busy man these days.’

President Zia ul-Haq ruled Pakistan with military discipline and Shia Muslim fervour. Hands were cut from robbers, adulterous women were stoned to death. Zia had many enemies and lived in a land of assassins. He controlled the drug trade that produced seventy per cent of the world’s heroin yet he spoke fine words to the USA about draconian measures to curtail the output.

Zia’s arch-enemy, India, was a nuclear power and Pakistan wished fervently to have its own atomic trigger. Abedi’s BCCI was sworn to help the mother country buy nuclear secrets and materials through their contacts around the world. This included a complete uranium conversion plant from West Germany. Officially the USA were against Pakistan or anyone else joining the nukes club and they loudly proclaimed Reagan’s war on drugs. But US foreign diplomacy was focused above all else on containing the spread of communism. So long as Zia and BCCI continued to support this aim in Afghanistan, a blind eye would be turned on the lesser evil of the spread of atomic warheads and drugs. This awkward dichotomy was partially behind the visit of Casey and Shaheen to secretly meet the Pakistani President with known crime-banker Abedi as their host.

Casey’s travelling companion, Albert Redden, had other reasons for having offered his anonymous jet for the flight. He needed to impress Abedi for his own ends. By arriving in Pakistan with Casey he achieved this. He was as loyal to Casey as was Shaheen and just as patriotic an American citizen as many a vicious Mafioso from Chicago or Miami. But professionally he was an international criminal with irons in many fires and influence in all the right places. Through The Friends he had access to Casey and thence the CIA. Through Abedi’s banks he laundered huge amounts of money around the globe and, in the early eighties, invested the filtered results in prime property and real estate.

Redden, a German Jew from Dresden, had fled to the USA in 1945, shortly before the Soviets closed in on his homeland. While all around him people died in the Nazis’ extermination camps, Redden, an unemotional realist, blamed them for being caught, not Hitler, whom he admired. Fascism made economic sense to Redden. Communism was the real menace to his way of life and, from his early days in the wartime Bronx, Redden did all he could to fight the spread of Marxism. The OSS took notice and sent Redden back into the Fatherland during the last two years of the war, when Casey decided to position a generation of sleepers east of the Rhine.

Through the McCarthy ‘red-hunting’ years and into the early seventies, Redden worked for the FBI as well as the fledgeling CIA, always as a freelance and usually unpaid. One of his tasks was liaison with Mafia families when their support was needed for difficult projects like the Bay of Pigs operation in 1962. He learnt early on never to cross the Mob and never to poach on their territory.

In May 1972, Redden masterminded an ice-cool robbery at 4936 Thirtieth Place, the empty Washington home of the newly dead FBI Director J. Edgar Hoover, one of Redden’s few heroes. The stolen documents were gold dust. Those that referred to Redden’s own liaison activities with the Mafia in the 1950s and 1960s were destroyed. Others were kept against a rainy day, for their contents were damning to the high and mighty in politics, business and religion in many countries. Their shelf-life was likely to last well into the next century, for the political, financial or religious brethren, and successors of the filed transgressors, would suffer grave embarrassment should the details be released. Hoover was personally far from unscathed, since, for reasons Redden could not even hazard, the old fox had failed to destroy clear evidence that he, the great denouncer of homosexuality, was himself given to dalliance with little boys and had for years kept his FBI agents off the backs of the Mob, who knew about his peccadilloes.

By the late 1970s, based in Los Angeles and his favoured home – the balmy waters of the Bahamas, where he loved to fish and snorkel – Albert Redden had become one of the world’s richest criminals.

His watchword was anonymity and he avoided all excesses. Unmarried and bisexual, he used several identities and seldom made love twice to the same person. Boys and girls, usually black or Asian, were brought to him by his staff, who ensured the young prostitutes remained ignorant of his identity and whereabouts.

Redden conducted his business through his long-time companion Korbi Richter. Their relationship stemmed from 1954, when Redden had infiltrated a left-wing student group in Chicago. The students became suspicious and cornered him in a car park. They left him for dead but one of their number, the eighteen-year-old Richter, a fellow German Jew and an activist only because of peer pressure, took Redden to his lodgings and nursed him back to health. For a while they were lovers but Redden soon reverted to younger boys and their relationship became a business partnership with Redden as the undisputed leader.

Richter’s émigré father flourished in Peruvian business and had sent his son to the States for a sound education. Richter Senior had been a harsh parent and Redden found young Korbi an unquestioning protégé with a nimble brain. They shared a love of animal games that originated at stevedores’ cock-fights in Chicago. Over the years they lost interest in the gambling aspect and gained their kicks through the sheer excitement of watching the naked aggression of the combatants, be they Spanish bulls and matadors or cobras and mongooses.

Javed Abbas excused himself from Abedi’s high-powered group in order, he said, to check on the secure arrival of President Zia and to arrange refreshments for the presidential entourage. Like Redden, Javed was not all that he seemed. Abedi had introduced him as a BCCI Protocol Officer. This was not so. Because the meeting was to remain clandestine, Abedi had handed its organisation, including entertainment for the Americans, to a department of BCCI known to the CIA as the ‘Black Network’ but not acknowledged as such by Abedi. As far as he was concerned, Javed Abbas and his colleagues were a necessary evil who did the dirty work.

The Network – for want of another name – was present wherever BCCI operated and a handful of senior BCCI executives worldwide knew whom to call when they needed pressure to be applied. Gentle persuasion, crude blackmail, disinformation, well-prepared accidents or, in the final analysis, termination. All could be arranged by the well-paid men and women of The Network. Four years previously Javed had worked for The Network in Washington, where Abedi was trying to persuade people of influence to allow BCCI expansion in the USA. Bribery was the main tool. Big sums of cash were involved. This had worked well in the Carter regime but Javed was rebuffed by one of his Reaganite targets, who contacted the FBI.

Soon afterwards an agent visited him, taking care to find him alone. If the Network learnt of this approach, no matter whether or not Javed succumbed to the FBI overtures, his days would be numbered. That, he knew, was the way of his colleagues. Since Jed Mason, the FBI agent involved, made it clear that Javed’s refusal to comply would result in compromising photographs of their meeting finding their way back to the Network, he had little choice. He and Jed had since become quite friendly. Javed was well paid whenever he produced worthwhile information.

Javed was no fool: he had watched Abedi tread arrogantly through many minefields and he had heard muted rumours of Washington hounds baying for BCCI blood. Sooner or later the empire would collapse and when that happened he, Javed, saw a rosy future for himself in Asia as an FBI placement.

He did not trust the telephones in the villa but he needed to inform Jed quickly of the unexpected good news. Redden had come with Casey and nobody, but nobody, Javed knew, excited Jed as much as Albert Redden. What should Javed do? Photos? Recordings? Honey trap? He would need to speak direct to Jed, which was fine since at that hour in Washington Jed should be at home in bed with his wife.

Javed’s driver dropped him at a village grocery store ten minutes from the villa. He trusted the driver as far as he could throw a rupee. The Network watched one another and Javed trusted nobody. At the rear of the store, for a healthy tip to the grocer, he called Washington.

Jed replied at once and, responding to Javed’s report, told him to stick like glue to Redden whenever he and Abedi met.

‘After this business,’ Javed said, ‘they will be entertained locally. I have made the arrangements on Abedi’s instructions. A bear fight and the doll-girls.’

‘Fine.’ Jed’s voice was sharp. ‘But ensure you record all their dialogue, especially at the bear fight. Just the sort of open-air place for talk about laundering Redden’s money through BCCI. Miss nothing, my friend.’

Javed thought for a while, then called his apartment in Lahore. Gul Zaman Khan replied. Javed had met Zaman two years before at a meeting between Abedi and President Zia. Zaman was then a member of General Yousef’s feared ISI and a personal bodyguard of the President. Javed and Zaman met many times in the course of their work and became friends. They shared the same sense of humour. Zaman, tall and fair-skinned, was no believer in tact. Like all Pathans, he was a fiercely religious Muslim and failed to disguise his frustration at his boss Zia’s half-hearted Islamisation of Pakistan.

Zaman’s outspoken nature had, some five weeks previously, resulted in his sacking by the ISI and the laying against him of false accusations of corruption. To avoid imprisonment he had gone into hiding and Javed had given him a safe haven in Lahore until the dust settled. Javed had also promised him a well-paid job with ‘The Network’, a body he painted as being pro-Pakistan and anti-American. He now asked Zaman to help him with a Network task of grave import to the government. ‘An influential American businessman,’ he told Zaman, ‘is to meet my boss, Hassan Abedi, tomorrow at a bear fight. We need to record their conversation and I need a backup. What about it?’ Zaman, sensing some test of his abilities by The Network before they offered him a job, agreed without hesitation.

Javed rang off and purchased bags of groceries to cover his sojourn in the store. Back at the villa, gate security confirmed the arrival of Zia’s helicopter within the hour.

President Zia sat in an upright teak chair. His mind was razor sharp and given to compartmentalisation, an English word that he used frequently. Fresh from a meeting with his ISI spy chiefs, he relished their reports. Sikh extremists were causing trouble for his arch-foe Indira Gandhi. She had sent tanks to attack the Sikh holy places. They would never forgive her. Her days, he divined, were numbered and his ISI ‘stirrers’ had assured him they were at work to hasten the process.

Zia’s black eyes took in the lack of trappings in the stark, white room – Abedi’s way of showing how little he cared for ostentation. Zia disliked Abedi in much the same way that de Gaulle had been irked by Churchill. Proud men hate to be indebted and Zia was as proud as they come despite the Prophet’s diktats on humility.

Abedi, he knew, had nurtured his BCCI bank through sound manipulation of worldwide geopolitical trends. The petrodollar boom of the 1970s had helped nourish the bank from its infancy, and, when the oil money showed signs of wilting away, Abedi had switched to arms and drugs. By the time Zia had come to power and found himself economically dependent on Pakistan’s drugs income, banker Abedi was on the wave crest. So long as the Afghan war flourished he knew the USA would remain silent about drugs. Drug Enforcement Administration zealots would be kept in check by the CIA.

Zia’s ISI and BCCI’s own intelligence network were incestuously linked as indeed were the men running the bank and governing Pakistan. They had become interchangeable, each recruiting from the other. The mutual benefit to the two leaders was inestimable. Some months previously Abedi had given Zia a personal cheque for $3 million. Even so, the warmth of their relationship was less than skin-deep.

Zia’s vision saw Pakistan under his rule as an Islamic superpower declaring a jihad against the infidel Soviet Communists and for this he needed US aid in huge quantities. But such support must remain sub rosa. He had no wish for the Islamic world to brand him as an American puppet. Hence the need for the secrecy of his meetings with CIA Director Casey.

The two men with Casey were, he assumed, mere spooks and gofers. They would not be present unless Casey trusted them. Abedi would mastermind the administration of whatever was agreed between Zia and Casey.

Zia’s Presidential Guard surrounded the villa but not with their standard open show of strength. Passers-by on the road leading to the Lahore–Sahiwal highway would note nothing unusual. Javed was responsible inside the villa. He sat outside the only entrance to the meeting room and reflected on his technical arrangements.

Jed had asked for tapes of all Redden’s meetings and the identity of anyone involved with him. Javed had found a long-disused larder in the villa’s cellar and hidden the recording equipment in two briefcases in cupboards with fronts of perforated zinc. The transmitting microphones had been more difficult to position because of the lack of furnishings in the meeting room. Eventually he had settled on two empty vases, filled them with dirt and taped the transmitters to their inner lips.

Javed’s mistake was understandable, for he had no reason to suspect surveillance. After all, Abedi had ordered The Network to supervise the meeting and, within the villa, Javed was The Network. But the BCCI Protocol Department, normally in charge of all events at the villa and any meetings involving foreign VIPs, operated their own in-house snooping programmes. Any movement or sound within the meeting room and the bedrooms of the villa was automatically recorded by hidden cameras. At the end of any visit Protocol employees took used tapes back to their headquarters for checking, analysis and filing. So Javed’s every move in the meeting room was on record.

William Casey, like Zia, had every reason to keep the meeting a close secret. He was circumventing the CIA, his own agency. In the event of any leakage he could fall back on his ulterior role as Reagan’s personal adviser and maintain his actions were undocumented and nothing to do with official CIA business. Where he could minimise risks by having The Friends, such as Shaheen and Redden, represent his interests, so much the better. With the likes of Zia, however, this was unacceptable. The Pakistani President only talked to top men.

Casey was well aware of the fears of Congress, fuelled by advice, in some cases, from his own CIA intelligence analysts. If the USA was seen to arm Zia, the arguments ran, India would be upset and climb even further into Brezhnev’s bed. And worse, using American-sponsored weaponry, the Afghan mujahidin were loose cannons. Some had already attacked north into the Soviet Union. This, Congress fretted, could well be considered by the Kremlin as a US-inspired attack on Soviet soil.

Knowing that the Congressional committees would deny him the official go-ahead and budgets to achieve his dearest aims on Reagan’s behalf in Afghanistan, Casey had taken his own clandestine path. Distrusting the professionals in his own agency for the work, he used only The Friends. His end goal was the injection of $5 billion worth of clandestine support to the mujahidin, much of it to be sought by Abedi through his Islamic friends in Saudi Arabia and the Gulf states.

The meeting went well. Shaheen and Redden kept their counsel, joining the conversation only when Casey, infamous for his mumbling speech, was unintelligible to both Abedi and Zia.

Much of the weaponry was to come from Third World sources: Asaf Ali gave a detailed rundown on how he would achieve this. His branch of BCCI were past masters at false documentation to simplify the purchase and transport of arms worldwide. Contact with the mujahidin would be through Zia’s ISI. Unaccountable monies from within the CIA budget, paid to untraceable BCCI accounts, would oil the machinery inside Pakistan, the launching pad for all operations into the war zone.

‘I am assured,’ Zia said quietly, ‘that the Kremlin is sending forty thousand more soldiers to Kabul next month and intends to start bombing our refugee camps on the border. Their policy is escalation to crush all resistance.’

‘We tried that in Vietnam,’ Casey rejoined. ‘It failed.’ They discussed the ongoing work of ISI agents in Kabul to spread heroin addiction within the Soviet forces. Abedi’s people were involved in this, mountain men hired by The Network to transport Asaf Ali’s weaponry from the Pakistan border, whither the Pakistan Army dumped it, and deep into the mountain strongholds of the mujahidin. Abedi’s cut from all this totalled hundreds of millions of dollars annually: Zia and Casey were his golden geese. He was pleased with the results of the meeting.

When the President had departed, Abedi returned to the meeting room. ‘I trust,’ he smiled, ‘you will all join me tomorrow. I promise you the very best in Punjabi traditional entertainment.’

Casey thanked Abedi but declined. He had a hectic schedule and had to depart immediately.

‘My Boeing and staff are at your service, Director,’ Redden interjected. ‘I must stay behind on business. Mr Abedi, I accept with pleasure your invitation for tomorrow.’

Abedi divided his time between a hectic international schedule and a simple domestic existence in Karachi with his second wife, an attractive former airline stewardess. He had a craving for power and any number of visionary Islam-based ambitions for his empire, but he shunned the trappings of wealth. At his London headquarters in Leadenhall Street none of his senior men had private offices. Everything was open-plan. In this American Jew, Albert Redden, Abedi saw a fellow master schemer but one, he suspected, who favoured dictatorship not democracy within his own organisation. This he deduced from a certain hardness of face and manner. He had, as was his wont, sent for the BCCI file on Redden as soon as the man had unexpectedly turned up with Casey. He noted the considerable business Redden’s BCCI accounts already generated. They bore all the hallmarks of criminal sourcing and yet Casey obviously trusted the man: Abedi was curious.

Redden stayed behind when Asaf Ali departed along with Casey and Shaheen. ‘Mr Abedi,’ he said quietly. ‘Might there be a possibility to talk business?’

‘Of course, of course,’ Abedi was enthusiastic, ‘but right now I am late for a conference. When we meet tomorrow at the entertainment, then we will talk.’

Once the meeting room was empty, Javed played back the tapes. Half an hour later, from a public phone booth, he called Jed in Washington and Zaman in Lahore to update them. He gave Zaman the number of Jed’s private answerphone in Washington and final briefing details for Redden’s attendance at the bear fight.

From his room in the villa Redden called a number in Delhi. ‘I need you here at once with cleaning equipment.’ He gave concise directions to the villa from Lahore airport. ‘Charter a jet. Get here before midnight at the latest. I will be alone in the villa but for the servants. The guards here are all external.’

Nine hours later two Americans in slacks and short-sleeved cotton shirts arrived in a taxi from Lahore. Redden did not enquire about their journey. They followed him to the meeting room. The staff were asleep and Javed was not expected to collect Redden before ten o’clock the next day.

Redden pointed to a ridge of ornamental stucco at standard picture-rail height along a single wall. In two places apertures like mouse-holes peered down at them.

‘The owner of this place forbids his architects and designers all frills and excesses. That plaster has been added as camouflage. You are to search this room thoroughly, remove any video and audio recordings you may find, then replace any hardware with care. And, while you are here, check out the other rooms. Wake me when you are finished. You have until dawn, when the staff arrive from their quarters.’

They had finished by 4 a.m. Well-concealed wall panels, allowing access to audiovisual gear installed in wall recesses, were invisible but for the giveaway stucco lining. The technicians replayed a stretch of video to Redden on their portable screen. Only one activity was of interest: the electronic doctoring of the vases by Javed. Redden thanked the men and kept the tape. He had no idea who Javed worked for but he intended to find out.

The technicians soon located Javed’s microphones in the vases and his receiving equipment in the cellar but . . . no tapes. Either Javed had failed to record the Zia–Casey meeting or he had sneaked the tapes away afterwards. Redden suspected the latter. When the two Americans were gone, he made a further call before going back to bed.

Javed arrived in a chauffeur-driven BCCI Rolls-Royce. With Casey and Zia gone there was no further need to pussyfoot in public. He treated Redden with the respect shown to all BCCI clients by bank staff. He had planned the day after the fashion of typical Protocol Department hospitality.

Most BCCI customers entertained in Pakistan were Middle Eastern royalty, their princelings and their business functionaries, for whom the fun and games would involve visits to watch and gamble at camel races or to hunt hapless Baluchi houbara buzzards with peregrine falcons, an activity about as skilled as sending leopards after caged mice. When the sport was over, BCCI Protocol laid on sex and drugs in Lahore or, as an expedient, trucked the girls, boys and cocaine, to wherever the clients were ensconced.

Briefed as to Redden’s special sporting proclivities, Javed had replaced the camel and buzzard routine with another more suitable Pakistani custom: the bear fight. They sped along poor roads to Gojra, creating mayhem in crowded places. At first Javed tried to converse with his passenger but the latter seemed morose, so he relapsed into the occasional tour guide-type comment on the scenery and, as they approached their destination, a rundown on Pakistani bear fighting.

‘Normally there are no fights in summertime. I have arranged today exceptionally for your good self.’ He glanced at Redden, who nodded, expressionless. The man was short on the basic graces. Jed would sort the bastard out and hopefully the tapes would help: they were safely locked in the glove compartment. He intended to hand them to the FBI agent in Lahore that night.

‘What does your Prophet say about the fights?’ Redden asked, glancing coldly at Javed.

‘Allah is clear. We must be kind to all animals. The Koran forbids the fights. So does the government, but local officials issue permits in exchange for “muk-muka”. We stage maybe three thousand fights every year. Everybody involved makes good cash except the organisers, who are local landowners, and they enhance their image by holding the events.’ Javed swore as a pi-dog charged across the road and bounced off the side of the speeding Rolls.

‘Nobody cares much for animals here. Least of all for bears, who eat sheep and damage crops. Farmers find the dens. Hunters then shoot the mother bears and carry off the cubs in bags by truck to the middlemen, who in turn sell them to Qalander gypsies, the trainers, in Lahore.’

‘How do they teach them to fight?’

‘Bears have big noses which are super-sensitive. The gypsies burn holes through their palate and their nostrils to take metal rings. For the rest of their lives they will do what they’re told to avoid the fearful nose pain. Their teeth and claws are torn out with pliers to keep the fights balanced. The Qalanders control their bears through the medium of constant pain.’

They came to the place of the fight in low scrub country. Javed left the road, following colourful bunting lashed to thorn bushes and leading to a clearing where many cars and oxen, donkeys and vendors of drinks milled about a central area screened off with flags of brilliant hues. Asian music and excited voices jangled from loudspeakers wired to trees. Javed parked to one side and a squad of men in green pyjama suits materialised, bowing their respect as they opened the doors of the Rolls.

Abedi was seated in a place of prominence and Javed led Redden to a leather-backed chair at his side. A group of noisy onlookers squatted in the enclosure right behind Abedi. These were the men who had placed major wagers on the coming contest. Gul Zaman, among them, was shabbily dressed in a khaki shalwar-kamiz and a Peshawari cap. He smoked busily, clenching the cigarette between the last two fingers of his right hand with the air of a man just emerged from the wilderness. Even Zia would have had difficulty in recognising his former bodyguard, once a graduate of Kakul, the best military academy east of Sandhurst.

Javed could discern no sign of the directional sound recorder he had sent Zaman the previous day. He hovered close by Abedi, who briefed the American about the entertainment.

Redden relished moments such as this. Power play with one of the world’s great manipulators, the opening moves of a new game and, as seasoning, animal sport and sex in the offing. Redden purred within but, outwardly, the thin lips and cold eyes continued to survey the world with disdain.

The loudspeaker hysteria crackled to a sudden halt and the excited crowd of two or three thousand fans abruptly closed about the arena as the first bear was led in by its Baluchi owner. The spectators squatted or stood in a wide circle, blood-lust up and aware that VIPs present for such winter events in summer were as rare as pork-fat sellers in a mosque. Many had recognised Abedi, a local hero, and the gossip buzzed.

‘Bad bear.’ Abedi leant across to Redden and pointed as the Baluchi yanked viciously at the nose ring of his shaggy Himalayan brown bear, which clearly had no inclination for the fight. The announcer began to sing its merits nevertheless, its track record and its owner’s status. Three Qalanders fixed a neck tether, a five-metre rope, to a heavy ground-mounted arena peg and removed their bear’s nose lead.

Nobody rated the animal’s chances. Its owner trained his bears to dance on red-hot metal trays and this did not help their fighting ability. He sold off some of his best cubs to Chinese restaurants, where the little animals were lowered trussed and alive into boiling water in front of rich Japanese gourmets who ate the paws and meat and then took gall-bladder titbits home as a medicinal remedy. Well-trained bears can fetch £4000 but not the Baluchi’s. Some of the crowd jeered his animal as it cowered against the central peg.

The first couple of fighting dogs were announced. Two white Tasi bull terriers owned by a Pathan and specially trained as bear-fighters since puppyhood.

As the dogs were unleashed the crowd went silent. Redden licked his lips and aimed his video at their jaws. They growled in unison, feral hair bristling as they sniffed the fear of the bear. Their lips snickered back across their jaws. Both knew they must go for the nose, avoid the flailing paws.

The bear stood up, brown eyes darting but knowing there was no escape, no alternative but to fight. He was six feet tall and three years old. For two years he’d had a sister but they had taken her away to China to be bled for her gall-bladder fluid. His layer of dense, red-brown underwool should protect most of his body from the Tasis’ fangs. His soft black nose was horribly torn from previous fights and from the daily cruelty of his owner. As the dogs began their dance, he whimpered with the sound of a human baby.

Redden’s hands clasped the camera. He began to breathe heavily. The dogs rushed at the bear in a well-coordinated pincer attack. One leapt high; the other closed powerful jaws about the bear’s tail. The bear swayed like a boxer and slapped at the leaping Tasi, breaking a rib. As the dog fell, the bear dropped down to hold it captive against the dirt floor, leaving both paws free to fend off the other cur.

Two more dogs were brought in as the crowd jeered and whistled. These were of sterner stuff and soon the dust was red with blood from the bear’s lips, ears and nose. None the less it crushed more canine ribs and staved off defeat.

A third pair of dogs were released and these were the Pathan’s best. They leaped high, crunching sharp incisors into the bloodied nose of the tiring bear. Soon he collapsed and the dogs held him down, their teeth slicing through his face, removing one eye. The fight was over. Redden was content. This was true sport. Abedi watched him and knew that business would be good. They retired to a chocolate-brown Bentley Continental where drinks and canapés were served before the servants withdrew. Only Javed remained in the vicinity of the limousine and neither he nor Gul Zaman was close enough to learn that, for a brief minute, he himself was the subject of the conversation.

Abedi appreciated Redden’s breadth of outlook. He felt the presence of a kindred spirit, a man not subject to cramping limitations of vision. Their conversation ranged wide before Redden steered the topic via oil to weapons of war.

The current round of CIA support for Pakistan’s Afghan jihad was perfectly timed for Abedi. By May that year the price of oil worldwide had collapsed and Gulf oil revenues had halved within a month. Weapons and drugs filled the resulting vacuum in BCCI’s coffers. Two billion dollars of US aid was paid for with Saudi cash and BCCI handled much of the action. Helicopters, mines and howitzers were simple to source but there were other, lesser-known items on the shopping list that were extremely difficult to procure and required great discretion on the part of the handlers. In this BCCI stood head and shoulders above all other agencies.

BCCI was established in countries where the CIA had few assets. BCCI even handled covert transfers of top-secret US technology to Soviet-bloc countries. Irangate was child’s play by comparison. The F16a jet fighter – top US sophisticate in the aerial combat field – was included in Abedi’s spider’s web.

General Zia needed nuclear warhead materials for his atomic dreams and Abedi’s men were in the process of obliging him. Pakistan’s Special Forces, conducting war games involving raids deep into India, had given Abedi weird and wonderful shopping lists which he in turn had put out to tender. Redden was about to come up with one of Zia’s most sought-after goodies.

Early in 1980, with an eye to arson and insurance fraud in big cities, one of the West Coast Mobs had begun paying a retired rocket-fuel expert to develop fire accelerants with the general idea of starting a major conflagration from a suitcase. At first the Mob were happy but rising R&D costs, coupled with a shift of focus away from arson, led them to sell their interests in the scientist and his gadgetry to Redden.

Federal investigators, called in by local fire services worried by Redden’s spectacular test fires, had dubbed the unknown arson ingredients High Temperature Accelerant or HTA. By 1984 a 45-gallon drum of HTA could destroy an empty warehouse in minutes.

When the conversation led naturally to the topic of Redden’s ongoing research into HTA, the German produced colour video footage of the most recent experimental fire. Abedi was impressed. They talked money. ‘There is one small problem,’ Redden said, looking at Abedi. ‘I need six more months of research to perfect things.’

It was agreed that BCCI would contribute to Redden’s further development costs. The cash would come from US and Saudi funds intended for Pakistani arms, so the deal could almost have been described as legitimate.

They moved on to discuss Redden’s European plans. He was shortly expecting a heroin shipment in England worth £10 million in cash. Abedi assured him that BCCI London would launder this in minutes.

Redden’s cocaine empire was based in Miami and supplies came from Medellín, in Colombia, where Abedi had recently purchased the giant Banco Mercantil. Cocaine was now flooding into the USA, where prices had fallen dramatically. So Redden was opening new action in Europe, starting in the UK. Market research revealed that Jamaicans were the undisputed kings of crack in Britain and Redden’s Jamaican connection, a corrupt police chief, had introduced him to Tricks. ‘If you want a good soldier-boy to handle your business in the UK, you couldn’t do no better than Tricksy.’

Based between Tottenham in London and Handsworth in Birmingham, Tricks was mean, arrogant and as streetwise as a tomcat. He and Redden had quickly clicked.

Abedi agreed to open two new special accounts for Redden’s burgeoning UK laundering requirements. He also discussed using Redden’s hard men in the UK for freelance dirty work on behalf of BCCI where Asians were inappropriate.

They shook hands. Taking Javed with them, they flew to Lahore in the BCCI Bell Ranger helicopter. Javed, during the general bustle after the bear fight, had passed Gul Zaman a package to go at once, with Zaman’s own taped gleanings, to Jed in Washington.

On arriving at the Lahore heliport, Abedi’s party were met by a businessman in a Western suit whom Abedi introduced as ‘Executive Siddiqi’.

‘Javed and I will leave you now and meet you for dinner in four hours.’ Abedi departed and Siddiqi ushered Redden to yet another BCCI Rolls-Royce. They drove to a low brick house close by the imposing silhouette of the Bad Shai mosque in the Hiramand district. From somewhere within the building issued the haunting sound of a sitar.

Redden passed the next two hours experiencing visual and sensory delights such as few people even dream about. He chose his companions, all trained from the age of nine or ten to give pleasure through titillation and the erotic arts, by watching them play with one another in front of his chair. The cream of the doll-girls and doll-boys of Lahore’s Diamond District. None was older than twelve and all were selected for their precocious charms by BCCI Protocol staff.

Siddiqi took Redden away after he was bathed and, somewhere in an adjacent building, he dined alone with Abedi. Business was discussed only after coffee and confined to the distasteful matter of Javed, who had died an hour earlier under interrogation.

‘We applied the technique of the hooks,’ Abedi’s man told Redden, ‘and he talked quickly. However, we could not find the tapes where he said they would be, so we gave him a second, more intensive spell, and it seems that his heart was unexpectedly weak. We could not revive him. We cannot be sure who he worked for but we believe it must be an American agency. My people are even now searching the villa, the cars and the place of the bear fight, for we feel sure he did not have the chance to pass on the tapes.’

Redden was annoyed. He suspected that Abedi’s men had failed to act quickly enough and he did not share their confidence about the tapes. Javed might have smuggled them out by some prearranged means.

He was not greatly concerned. He would have to warn Casey that his talks with Zia were compromised. He suspected Javed was a CIA or FBI informant but he might even be Abedi’s own man. He had no proof after all that an interrogation had even taken place. He had long ago learnt that in the rarefied world of intrigue in which he moved everybody watched everybody else. His own talks with Abedi were anyway not part of the villa tapes. He relaxed.

In Washington Jed took the tapes to the Department of Justice and argued that Redden’s very presence at the Casey–Zia meeting made him sufficiently important in terms of national security to warrant a permit for full FBI surveillance of the LA office Redden shared with his criminal colleague Korbi Richter. The permit was granted. The net, it seemed, was falling into place. Now any evidence resulting from the surveillance of either Redden or Richter would be usable against them in court.

When Jed received the tapes from Zaman he found that the recordings were disjointed, but they gave the gist of Redden’s HTA proposal and the meat of his UK activities. He called Ridgway from Washington. ‘Hi, JR. How are you placed for a week or two in Europe?’
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July 1984

Lucy was enthralled by the whole thing. And so were her parents. The very newness of the rented colour TV – until then they had made do with black and white – greatly enhanced the dazzling spectacle of the Opening Ceremony of the 1984 Olympics, live from Los Angeles. Hollywood’s best ensured that the showmanship and glittering pizzazz, the massed gymnastic displays and giant Disney floats, the incredible laser and pyrotechnic extravaganzas, all served to confirm LA as the showbiz hub of the universe.

They sat side by side on the new sofa, not yet covered, and temporarily forgot their predicament, the alarming mortgage and Dad’s continuing unemployment. He looked at his wife and daughter, eyes moistening with a surge of protective affection. He would find work. They deserved the finest of homes and he would find a way of providing everything they wanted. Sunday was about to emerge here in Dudley if not in Los Angeles. They would sleep in, have brunch, then go off for a spin to Kinver Wood, which they had started to explore the previous weekend.

Eight hours later, at Heathrow’s International Terminal the Pan Am flight from Los Angeles was overdue. John Potter, top shaker at Pan Am Special Services in Terminal Three, handed over to a pretty blonde supervisor and headed for home. Special Services dealt with the private jets of VIPs and John knew most of them, from George Bush to Joan Collins. He took the frequent tantrums of his customers with a pinch of salt – just as well or he would have been long dead from ulcers. None the less he felt a healthy dislike for the two black gentlemen who had spent the last hour in the cramped Special Services lounge, smoking non-stop and waiting with open impatience for the private 727 from LA. John was no racist but these Jamaicans were arrogant to the point of rudeness.

Tricks turned up the TV as the Pan Am man left. The little blonde was cute but he didn’t want her listening. Yet another replay of the LA Opening Ceremony drowned his conversation with Donnie, his chauffeur and general fixer of a dozen years. Tricks appreciated loyalty but seldom rewarded it, for he was above all a selfish man. For the last two years he had run a small army of ‘mules’ carrying Colombian cocaine from Kingston to Heathrow. Many were caught by Customs but none fingered him, for they feared him more than six years in a British nick where conditions were far better than back home in the ghetto. Most of Tricks’s mule-girls were past their prime: their men had left them for younger meat and they depended on the £2000 he paid them for each 10-oz run to Heathrow. When Customs ran a purge at Heathrow, Tricks re-routed to easy-going Stansted.

One practice was to scrape the stuffing from a 10-inch dildo, jam it full of the white powder, seal the open end and insert it in the vagina. Much safer than swallowing even well-lubricated condoms. Two of Tricks’s girls had died from burst condoms. Cocaine ingestion caused overstimulation of the nerves, coma and kidney failure. An awful way to go.

Tricks knew the mathematics. His best mules, swallowing 120 condoms, each of several grams, could arrive with a third of a kilo to retrieve from the pan; a messy business but one best closely invigilated to discourage cheating. His Jamaican source, Mascel of Spanish Town, invested £4500 in each 10-oz load. This was split £2000 to the cocaine source, £2000 salary to the mule, £400 air ticket and £100 pocket money. On UK streets and watered down, one load could fetch Tricks £10,800 at £20 per half gram. Good business by anyone’s standards but chicken-feed compared with his expectations from his new American bosses; the men he had come to greet.

Tricks used a number of street-names and carefully segmented his associates in different areas of his affairs. His Birmingham reggae partners knew him as Mafia or Spud. To his family he was simply Stafford, and in the States he answered to Tricks or Vix.

For a fortnight his London killer squad had searched for the Colombian Guzman, on Richter’s death list. But Guzman had never surfaced. Tricks could only assume the man was avoiding all contact with the Jamaican networks, trying to set things up through South Americans or Turks. If so, he would not get far, for at street level the Jamaican ‘Yardies’ controlled ninety-nine per cent of the UK crack-cocaine market. Once Guzman faced up to this and made overtures to the Yardies, Tricks would hear and Guzman would die. Tricks used assassins from Jamaica to kill in the UK and vice versa.

A thickset American with a TWA shoulder bag, chrome-edged Raybans and a tennis racket sat opposite Tricks and Donnie. Tricks thought the man was listening to their conversation and gave him the cold eye. This frightened most people but the tennis player continued to stare at the TV monitor. John Ridgway, ‘JR’, believed in close play when shadowing targets. So long as he avoided eye contact, he found he was seldom compromised by the bold approach and, right now, he needed to learn Tricks’s short-term intentions in case he lost him going out of the airport. This was likely, for JR’s MI5 contact gave the appearance of being an amateur and he had no other backup in the UK. Jed Mason was in Washington on another case.

The Javed tapes of the Lahore meeting had opened the way for maximum surveillance of the Redden-Richter headquarters on Wilshire Boulevard. The FBI had taken ten years to nail Al Capone and Jed was just as determined to put the two Germans away for life. Whatever tapes, bugs and evidence of money laundering were necessary to blast away the protection these bastards received from on high, he and JR would obtain. What worried them was the inexplicable blocking of previous searches Jed had set in motion at high levels in Washington for existing information on the Germans.

‘The CIA are behind it,’ Jed was pretty sure. ‘They should be called the CYA, “cover your ass”,’ he snorted. ‘They use scum like Redden to help their operations and then they’re saddled with protecting this same low life merely to keep their own name clean.’

‘Ma Bell’ had contacted a dozen firms in other parts of the Redden office block. The whole building was to have new phone systems installed to avoid suspicion. The FBI was footing the bill for all this, proof indeed that Javed’s tapes had made the Bureau sit up and take notice. A few years back, in the post-Watergate Carter era, such surveillance would have required a personal OK from the Attorney General. But Reagan, under his wide-ranging Executive Order 12333, had lifted bans on wire-taps and bugging as well as allowing the collection of dossiers on US citizens and the infiltration of suspect organisations.

Following the installation of the new Bell system in the Redden offices, JR had spent three days ensconced in a disused ground-floor office straight across the boulevard. With headphones and two outsize tape recorders, he listened to every call made by Richter and Redden from their executive desks. They would never detect bugs, for there were none. Bell were simply diverting the signals to the FBI as they were legally bound to do.

The previous week, when Richter’s secretary had called the captain of Redden’s 727 to arrange the flight plan to Heathrow, JR had listened in. He learnt from a subsequent call to London that Tricks was to meet Redden and Richter to discuss the shipment of a £10-million boatload of heroin to London from the Lebanon. With luck and MI5’s fraternal cooperation, JR might garner enough evidence in the UK to hook a RICO (Racketeer Influenced Corrupt Organization) conspiracy charge on Redden. The RICO statute, a federal law devised in the early 1980s, was fast becoming the FBI’s major weapon against major criminals adept at hiding in the woodwork. By arresting and getting evidence from any lowly criminal, some way down a particular crime chain – Tricks, for example – the FBI could, through a RICO charge, prosecute also the main conspirators and bosses at the centre of the web controlling the criminal, even though these bosses were demonstrably not involved at the crime scene itself.

For over forty years J. Edgar Hoover had kept his FBI away from the drugs scene. This was left to local police forces and the Drug Enforcement Administration. When William Webster, the current incumbent, took over the FBI six years earlier, things had changed and the Head of the Los Angeles FBI, Charles J. Parsons, was now as heavily involved in nailing drug crime as was the LAPD.

Two months previously the CENTAC project, set up by the DEA to chase international narco-criminals like Redden, was for political reasons (and because of inter-agency jealousies) handed to the FBI. Jed and JR’s ongoing and personal crusade, to hunt Richter and (since the Javed tapes) also his colleague Redden, was beginning to receive the mantle of an official Bureau activity. Their wire-taps and bugs were now legitimate and the ability to call on support from foreign friends, like MI5, was a big bonus.

MI5 had nothing recorded on Tricks but Scotland Yard produced a thin file on the Jamaican as well as general notes on UK-based Yardies of his ilk. So JR knew enough to appreciate the force of the cold stare from the black man in the Pan Am office. He was unfazed by the cold aggression emanating from the drug dealer, for he, JR, held the cards. This guy, possibly the key to convicting Redden and Richter, symbolised to JR the whole evil narcotics trade, currently worth half a trillion dollars annually – more than the total value of all US currency in worldwide circulation. JR’s ears strained as Tricks spoke to his minion.

‘Call Blackledge,’ he instructed Donnie. ‘Tell him we’ll meet him this afternoon as agreed. He must have enough wagons for all of us, including the Yanks. We don’t want our own number-plates associated with this fuckin’ animal stuff out in the countryside.’ He shook his head. ‘Bloody nutters, these Yanks, I tell you. Why can’t they stick to business? And hey, Donnie, tell that Blackledge we don’t want some place right out nowhere. He should make it close to Brum. OK?’

JR lit up a Camel and mentally reviewed what he had read about his quarry. Born in St Catherine, Jamaica, late in 1949, Tricks had come to England in the early sixties with his parents after basic secondary education at Russell School in Kingston. His parents divorced and his father went to the States. His mother settled in Handsworth, a black ghetto in Birmingham.

At first Tricks had made his money repairing cars, collecting the dole and selling cannabis, but his real talent lay in reggae. He moved between Jamaican communities in the UK, with occasional trips to Jamaica, and acquired contacts among the top reggae groups and DJs. He set up his own sound system, the best around, and his records sold to reggae brothers all over the UK and JA (Jamaica). He called his system Tipper Town, or Mafia Town, or Now Generation. Sometimes he made extra cash from robbing post offices and banks, using ‘knife-point pressure’, although he carried a big black .38 Smith and Wesson.

The Muhammad Ali Centre in Hackney was his base for a while. In the seventies his wife, Carol, twice instigated hearings against him for actual bodily harm. He had eight children in various cities. In Birmingham little by little he became a big guy, a respected ‘don’. In London he was outclassed by nastier colleagues, bigger dons like Rankin’ Dred, Tappazuki and Superspade. Dred stole money from him in 1984 and he backed down, knowing Dred had killed seven men in Jamaica and a few more in the UK.

Tricks took his sound system all over, but Birmingham was his chief haunt, dives like the Porsche Club and the Humming Bird at the Leisure Club. He had his records pressed in Shepherd’s Bush and bought a shop in Seven Sisters Road which sold Italian clothing.

JR noted that Tricks was a snappy dresser, what West Indians call ‘sleek’. Gold Rolex, gold rings and bracelets, crocodile-skin shoes, well-cut two-piece grey suit from Pressburgers in Queensway and a broad-brimmed beaver ‘Capone’ hat.

In 1983 Tricks lived in Edmonton, north-east London, and stashed his drugs at his mother’s house. But Tappazuki doublecrossed him and ran off with £15,000 of the takings from a concert. Tricks called a friend in New York, Sal, who flew in at once and stalked Tappazuki for two weeks in Brixton. Bullets flew about until the Met interfered. Tricks had to sell up in London and, back in JA, ran into Mascel, a senior police officer in Spanish Town. He never looked back, for Mascel ran cocaine from Colombia to the UK and USA. Tricks became Mascel’s main mover to Heathrow and Gatwick, where the police chief knew bent Customs men.

Early in 1984 Mascel had given Albert Redden a glowing tribute to Tricks and now here he was, the once nobody-man from St Catherine, sitting in Heathrow, with the big boys from LA expected any minute. The immediate business, he knew, involved £10 million in heroin to be brought into the UK by an amateur crew set up by Richter. When the boat arrived Tricks was to seize the heroin, sell it through his urban networks and use the proceeds, banked through BCCI, to commence the expansion of Redden’s European crack empire. By 1990, all being well, Tricks would no longer be just another posturing UK Yardie, but Mr Big, controlling the distribution of vast amounts of Colombian coke to swamp the UK and thence Europe.

Linda Forsaithe, the blonde Pan Am Special Services supervisor, approached Tricks. The 727 had arrived. The passengers should be at Arrivals in ten minutes. JR waited until Tricks had disappeared, then took the lift to the first-floor car park, filled with uniformed chauffeurs jockeying to park their limousines as close as possible to the lift about to disgorge their relevant VIPs.

At almost any other airport in the world, including most others in Britain, the rich and the famous can arrive by private jet and, avoiding the official entry and Customs routing, go to a special VIP arrivals lounge or even disembark out on the tarmac to be whisked away by their private transport after an on-board check by Customs. At Heathrow this is impossible. There are no exceptions. JR could be sure that Tricks must meet Redden and Richter at the same Arrivals point as every Tom, Dick and Harry entering Britain at Terminal Three.

The American waited until Donnie had parked close to the first-floor lift in a black stretch Mercedes. Then he moved forward, squeezing between the Merc and a Rolls. He dropped his briefcase, swore for Donnie’s benefit and, in stooping to retrieve the case, clipped a magnetic transmitter to the underlip of the Mercedes’ bumper. He did this with care, remembering that Jason from MI5 had stressed such hardware was accountable and he, Jason, did not wish to go through the extensive documentation needed to write off a £3000-plus bleeper-bug.

JR climbed into Jason’s blue Ford Escort in Terminal Three’s short-term car park. Jason was plagued by dandruff and thick bifocals, but he seemed reasonably adept with the knobs and dials of the bleeper’s direction monitor, so JR sat back and relaxed as they followed the Mercedes towards central London.


4

26–29 July 1984

Joe Rowberry from New Cottages worked for the parish council. Despite the loss of an eye in an accident, he loved to walk in the wood with his golden labradors. During the previous summer of 1983 a Manpower Services team had cleared a footpath from Kingsford Lane up to the hilltop which faced towards the sudden escarpment of Kinver Edge. On this wooded pimple they had installed a rough vandal-proof bench. Joe often rested there and watched his labradors sniff the rich leaf-mould for news of other dogs.

Two hundred yards from the bench young bracken shoots and adult fronds carpeted a clearing where badger families had lived for many years. A dozen entry holes led down to their sett. Claw marks on a nearby elder, approach trails and latrine pits indicated recent activity. The Bishop family, who lived in nearby Kingsford Cottage, seldom saw their nocturnal neighbours even though another active sett lay close behind their home. Ken Whitehouse, the National Trust Warden of Kinver Wood, often patrolled the lanes but on 26 July he was clearing brush to the north of the Old Kennels.

A 40lb boar badger slept away the afternoon with his wife and another young sow. His stumpy teeth were set in a hinged jaw of great biting and holding power, but much of his food was easy eating: earthworms by the thousands, beetles, rabbits, voles, birds, apples and berries, supplemented by occasional plunder from some farmyard.

One of the sows was dying from gangrene poisoning due to a wire snare which had tightened around her waist. Before snapping from its pegged anchor the cruel device had cut through and lodged in her stomach wall.

A man who lived to the west of Sheepwash Lane had received a visit earlier that July by two rough-looking men from up Blackburn way. Did he have any vermin he wanted put down? He told them about the brocks he had seen in Kinver Wood. He disliked badgers; they carry bovine tuberculosis, steal lambs and poultry, root out fences and flatten crops. In the past he had pumped slurry down setts to drown the pests.

The two Lancashire men worked at a slaughterhouse in Great Harwood. Both had criminal records for assault and, under the respectable guise of keen terrier men, gained pleasure from digging and killing badgers. Paul Norman Blackledge was ruthless, a hard case even by the standards of the Lancashire region, where he grew up. Badgers were his personal addiction: his trade was drug-dealing for both black and white suppliers in the Midlands, as well as selling guns obtained from an Irishman in Glasgow to West Indians in the cocaine business. Blackledge, well known to the Blackburn police, was to become one of the earliest dealers of crack cocaine in the West Midlands. An evil man best avoided.

Two years earlier Blackledge had been conned by a Wrexham dealer and decided to cut his losses. He invited the Welshman to a badger dig near Pencoed and split his skull open with a pickaxe before burying him. No great sum was involved but Blackledge had to think of his reputation. The police never found the body.

Earlier in the summer a West Indian from North London had paid Blackledge £2000 in cash to arrange ‘sport’ for two American clients. The Americans were international cocaine barons, or so Blackledge understood from the West Indian, who called himself Tricks.

On this occasion Blackledge was told to find a venue within thirty minutes’ drive of central Birmingham, and to be ready by 6 p.m. for the Americans’ arrival. As before, they would bring video cameras and wanted to view the action close up. This was a tall order even for Blackledge. Badgers are not available everywhere on call.

That afternoon Blackledge parked his van off Birds Barn Lane. Following the detailed instructions of the smallholder, Blackledge came to the sett and whistled when he saw the prints of the big boar.

‘Big fucker, this billy,’ he told his colleague. ‘We’ll need a few good terriers on this one and a couple of vans for the stuff. I’ll fix it up tonight. We’ve only got three days till the Yanks come.’ The other man looked up as a car rushed by along Kingsford Lane, a mere two hundred yards away through a thin screen of birches.

‘Bit dodgy here, innit?’ he said, squinting towards the hilltop bench. ‘Plus you got paths all over the fuckin’ place.’

‘Too bad,’ Blackledge replied, and shrugged. ‘Lucky to get anywhere active at such short notice. I’ll get a couple of extra lads to keep their eyes open for a few quid.’

Driving north up the M6, Blackledge searched the radio bands: he needed a weather report for the weekend. But the air was cluttered with reports about British athletes at the Olympic Games in Los Angeles. He swore. He wanted to know that the good weather would hold: the Americans were more likely to hand out generous tips if not soaked to the skin.

Three days later, at a coffee-shop in Kinver, a couple of walkers with a ten-year-old daughter smiled politely and seated themselves in the curved ladder-back chairs. Joan Davies, the proprietor, clocked them in as ‘nice clean people’. They ordered coffee and cakes. Milk for Lucy. She was a pretty girl: high cheekbones, corn-blonde hair and wide blue eyes. ‘Will there be deer in the woods today, Daddy?’ This was their second visit to Kinver Wood. Lucy’s birthday gifts that year had included a little automatic camera and she was keen to photograph wildlife.

It had recently poured with rain but on Saturday, 28 July the weather had been fine as they had driven towards Kinver, working at one another’s happiness in the manner of devoted dogs licking one another, for Dad was still unemployed and the mortgage loomed large. Just after a boatyard at Stewponey, beside the Stour, they had turned south and soon reached their destination.

‘Let’s have tea.’ Mary had pointed at the picture-postcard bungalow with the cosy name of The Picnic Basket. ‘I like to run my tearooms in a proper, old-fashioned way,’ Joan Davies told them. She took meal bookings – but not from ‘yobbo’ types – and organised charity activities for the church and the scouts.

‘She’s yearning for the fifties,’ Mary whispered to her husband when Mrs Davies disappeared to fetch their order.

Feeling better by the minute, they drank the tea and enjoyed their scones.

‘Shouldn’t we have walked before having tea?’ Lucy mused.

‘Yes,’ Mary said, and they all laughed.

Back in the centre of the village, they asked about a good place for a walk.

‘Go up Stone Lane and Compton Road,’ the attendant at Lowes Garage had told them. ‘Turn left into Kingsford Lane and you’ll see a little park place on the right. A couple of fellas recently gassed themselves to death there.’ He giggled at this gem of local gossip. ‘From the park you can have a lovely walk either side of the lane. The Edge is to the east with caves like Nanny’s Rock. Or you can go west up to Lydiates and Vermin Valley.’

Dad wore a Barbour and his old Army boots. He was proud that they were all wearing sensible colours that would blend in the woods. They might spot a deer and he knew how happy Lucy would be to take a picture of one. Mary held Lucy’s hand as they walked into the brush ahead of him. He realised that, whatever might happen with the job and the house, he was blessed a thousand times over. These two people were his whole world. So long as they were together and happy, how could he possibly be downhearted? He began to whistle. Then he stopped himself as Lucy turned with a grin and a finger to her lips.

The full heat of midsummer had begun to ease with the slow passage of the afternoon. Blackbirds chackered in the undergrowth but there were no other walkers about as they came to the outskirts of Valehead Farm.

Most weekend visitors to the woods, whether tourists or locals, preferred the more interesting paths beneath the cliffs of Kinver Edge on the other side of the lane. Moving quietly by gorse clumps, through sunny glades and up to a little hilltop, the family came to a lonely wooden bench and sat there for a while, squeezed together and whispering, for it seemed the right sort of place for sylvan animals. It was then that they heard the distant yapping of dogs. If only the breeze had been blowing in the other direction, the sound might never have reached them.


5

29 July 1984

At 4 a.m. on Sunday, 29 July the police officers left their Metro car in an invalid bay by the Holly Lane ambulance entrance to the Midland Centre for Neurosurgery, known locally as the Neuro Centre, in the Birmingham suburb of Smethwick. Ben, the fatter of the two constables, had never seen the place so quiet, but then he normally found himself here on Friday or Saturday nights, prime time for alcohol-inspired injuries. He breathed heavily, trying to keep up with his junior colleague. ‘Hold it mate. What’s the rush? It’s a mugging, not a murder, you know.’ Both men were from Wombourne village police station, the quietest place on God’s earth. Because Kinver was in their parish and that was where the bloke had been found, here they were at the hospital.

The Neuro Centre delighted Ben. Pretty, uniformed women flitted by as he wiped beads of sweat from his eyebrows. They found Ward Ten and the nursing sister, Anne Ellis, who had phoned the station. She was in her early thirties and Ben found her attractive. She noticed his admiration and became less twitchy. Four a.m. was her least favourite hour. Patients were at their lowest ebb at this time and so was she. ‘Come to my office,’ she growled. ‘There may be chairs if they’ve not been borrowed again.’

She even organised tea. But no biscuits. The patient she wanted them to see had arrived an hour earlier with suspected brain damage from a head injury. Cause unknown but probably a blow from a heavy blunt object. He was nauseous, dizzy, sick and drowsy.

The policemen followed Sister Ellis and the Duty Night Sister down shiny linoleum corridors to the Intensive Care Unit. There was no evidence of third-party involvement. The patient might have simply fallen over and hit his head. There were no identifying papers on him, no cash – nothing.

‘Any indication of his being mugged and his belongings stolen, Sister?’ Ben had his notepad and pen at the ready.

She shrugged. ‘Possibly. Whatever happened to him, there are no witnesses that we know of. He was found three hours ago by a motorist passing through the village of Kinver. He was conscious and his wounds had stopped bleeding. His Good Samaritan dropped him at the nearest hospital, then disappeared leaving no name. The Corbett in Stourbridge, the hospital in question, closed down their casualty department eight weeks ago, so he was shuttled on to Russells Hall Hospital in Dudley.’

‘Are they clued up on brain injuries?’ Ben flashed his brightest smile. ‘Like you are?’

Sister Ellis experimented in looking demure; difficult at 4 a.m. ‘They did some initial testing in their general ward but decided to pass the buck on to us. They usually do if there’s any chance of severe neurological trauma.’

‘Have you spoken to him?’

‘No.’ She shook her head, one hand touching at her neatly tucked bun. ‘He rambles, mostly incoherently. Keeps asking who he is and where. He may have been unconscious for hours.’

‘What about an X-ray?’ Ben asked.

‘Of course,’ the sister was curt. ‘As soon as the ambulance brought us the patient from Russells Hall our registrar, Graham Flint, assessed him and sent him to Radiology. But the scan found nothing untoward. No blood clots nor evident brain damage.’

They followed her to a curtained-off bed. The patient’s name card, hooked to the bedstead, was blank.

‘He will get a registration number shortly in place of a name,’ she announced.

The man’s eyes were bloodshot and barely visible beneath puffed-up and discoloured eyelids. Bandages covered his face apart from his nose, which was that of a rugby player who had walked into a door. His right arm lay on top of the bedclothes, revealing a splint attached to one of his fingers.

‘The finger is lacerated,’ the sister commented. ‘The Dudley report indicated that a sharp blade had been used to cut across it.’

‘Torture, you mean?’ Ben’s colleague brightened up.

She shrugged. A young nurse entered with a thermometer and dish.

Sister Ellis spotted the instant directional change of Ben’s antennae, blatant to the point of rudeness. She dismissed this inwardly, being much used to the fickleness of men.

‘This is Doreen, our auxiliary nurse and very efficient.’

Doreen dimpled. Sister Ellis smiled, ‘Show the constables anything they want to see, providing they behave themselves.’

Sister Ellis departed and Doreen showed Ben the patient’s clothes. The officers examined each item with care but found nothing which might help identify the man in the bed. A tattered Barbour jacket, corduroy trousers with a couple of well-repaired tears and well-worn Army boots. Jockey underpants, a vest and carefully darned black socks completed the ensemble. The boots were well dubbined. A keen walker, Ben thought. No mud packed the treads but then the ground had been dry the last day or two in most parts of the country. They found grains of red sand in the pockets of the Barbour and inside the boots. Ben looked at the man’s fingernails for traces of this sand. There was none, but someone at the hospital might have scrubbed his hands before sewing up his damaged finger.

When they had finished, Sister Ellis was nowhere to be found but Doreen promised that Ben would be notified once the patient was in a fit state to be interviewed.
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